
P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 1 of 18 
 

                           AT A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

                            PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

HELD IN AND FOR GADSDEN COUNTY, 

FLORIDA, ON MARCH 13, 2008, THE 

FOLLOWING PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD,  

   VIZ 

 

 

PRESENT:        ABSENT: 

 

John Yerkes, Chair    Dr. Gail Bridges-Bright 

Larry Ganus     Dick Hollahan 

Alonzo McBride     Mari VanLandingham 

Dr. Tony Arnold 

Willard Rudd 

Frank Rowan 

Diane Sheffield (Late) 

Eric Hinson, School Board Rep. 

Bill McCord, Growth Mgt. Dir. 

Jean Chesser, Deputy Clerk 

 

CALL TO ORDER: 

 

Chair Yerkes called the meeting to order and led in the pledge 

of allegiance to the U.S. Flag.  He requested the minutes 

reflect a quorum present. 

 

ROLL CALL: 

 

Each commissioner present stated his/her name and district for 

the record. 

 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT: 

 

There were no conflicts declared by any of the members 

present. 

 

CHANGES TO THE AGENDA: 

 

Mr. McCord stated there were no changes to the agenda but he did 

advise the Commission that the Board of County Commissioners at 

their meeting on February 19
th
 had approved Item # 6, Public 

Hearing ï Variance ï Isaac Immediate Family Exception ï V-2008-

01, under OLD BUSINESS.  Mr. McCord said the approval would 

allow the Isaacs to sell their home and that immediate family 

lot would essentially become a non-conforming lot. He said no 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 2 of 18 
 

further action was required by the Planning & Zoning Commission 

unless they chose to do so.  

 

UPON A MOTION BY COMMISSIONER ROWAN TO DELETE ITEM #6 UNDER OLD 

BUSINESS FROM THE AGENDA, AND UPON A SECOND BY COMMISSIONER 

RUDD, THE BOARD VOTED 6-0, BY VOICE VOTE, IN FAVOR OF THE 

MOTION. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

UPON A MOTION BY COMMISSIONER ROWAN AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 

RUDD TO ACCEPT THE MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 14, 2008, PLANNING & 

ZONING COMMISSION MEETING AS PRESENTED, THE BOARD VOTED 6-0, BY 

VOICE VOTE, IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION. 

 

INTRODUCTION/DISCUSSION OF LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE REVISIONS WITH 

CONSULTANT: 

 

Mr. McCord introduced Spencer Ball as the new Growth Management 

GIS Coordinator. He said Spencer could certainly help the 

Commission out with any questions they have on the map. 

 

Mr. McCord said the Board of County Commissioners had hired a 

consultant (LaRue Planning & Management Services out of Ft. 

Myers) to redo the Land Development Code and the firm will be 

working for the next 10-11 months to reformat, re-write, update, 

fill in gaps, change processes to the Code; basically to do a 

re-write of the Countyôs entire Land Development Code.  Mr. 

McCord introduced Ms. Alicia King and Mr. Bill Brinson as 

representatives of the LaRue Firm. He said the Commission was 

familiar with a lot of the inôs and outôs, conditions they have 

to deal with regarding conflicts to the Comprehensive Plan, etc. 

He gave the members a survey (Gadsden County Land Development 

Code, Customer Satisfaction Survey) and asked that they complete 

the survey and he said the Commission could supplement 

additional comments/attachments to the survey if they so 

desired. 

 

Mr. Brinson, Sr. Planner said Mr. LaRue had met with the BOCC at 

their last meeting and had asked them to provide input as to 

what some of their concerns were with the Land Development Code.  

He said he and Ms. King were here for the same reason tonight 

and also to listen to the items on the Commissionôs agenda to 

see how the Countyôs system operates. He explained they would be 

working with staff, the BOCC and P&Z to try and make the Land 

Development Code easier and clearer for everyone to understand. 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 3 of 18 
 

He said he would like to get any input, concerns, or questions 

the P & Z Commission may have. 

 

Chair Yerkes said he thought a work session on this would be 

beneficial and asked Mr. Brinson to give the P & Z Commission 

ideas as to what type of information they would need to be 

prepared to discuss the Code as well as just how detailed Mr. 

Brinson intended to be; what his approach was going to be on 

redeveloping of the Code. He said it would be important that if 

certain issues are brought up by the Commission that Mr. Brinson 

would not say that his firm is not getting that involved or that 

detailed in certain issues. Chair Yerkes asked if Mr. Brinson 

would take what is in existence today and bring in a model his 

firm has always used and start modifying it to meet the 

requirements of the County, or just how he would approach it. 

 

Mr. Brinson said the LaRue Firm has worked with many communities 

throughout the State for many years and in doing so there are 

certain things/problems they can tell about a community, 

basically because of its layout.  He assured the Commission his 

firm would go into as much detail to the extent of anything the 

Commission finds is a problem ï a process that is confusing.  He 

said when they read the Code, anything they find confusing will 

be addressed and they will not be making changes to the Code 

just for change sake. He said they want to address the problems 

the Commission has and to make the Code easier for everyone to 

use, especially those people that have to deal with the Codeôs 

regulations ï developers, builders, staff, etc.  

 

Commissioner Sheffield arrived at this point of the meeting. 

 

Commissioner Ganus discussed the Comp Plan Amendments that will 

eventually filter down to the Land Development Code and said one 

of his major concerns is how all of those amendments will be 

incorporated into the Land Development Code revisions being 

discussed tonight. He also asked Mr. McCord where they stand on 

all of the amendments that were finished 2-3 months ago. 

 

Mr. McCord said copies of any pending amendments that are under 

review will be given to the consultants, particularly if it 

involves a design standard or anything that needs to be 

addressed in the Land Development Code. He said obviously if it 

is already addressed in the Land Development Code and some 

specificity needs to be re-addressed in the Land Development 

Code because of a change or simply because it is a clean-up 

issue, that there may not need to be a change in the Code 

standard because of the Comp Plan. Mr. McCord said the 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 4 of 18 
 

amendments Mr. Ganus inquired about were approved by the Board 

of County Commissioners at a special meeting in February with 

some very minor changes.  He said those will be going out the 

door real soon. 

 

Chair Yerkes inquired as to Mr. McCord stating he would get back 

with the Commission on more work that had to be done in the Comp 

Plan on addressing septic system replacements near water bodies 

as far as using advance waste water systems and where there were 

sensitive areas.  He said he never got any feedback on this and 

asked Mr. McCord is it was included in there. 

 

Mr. McCord said the P & Z Commission had taken action on that; a 

150 foot setback with a standard system or with an advanced 

waster water treatment system it would be closer than that. He 

said that is what the Commission had directed staff to do. 

 

Commissioner Ganus said he had one pet peeve that he would like 

Mr. McCord to put in the back of his mind and address at the 

appropriate time which was the side setbacks on large parcels of 

land (talking about 20+ acre lots). He said the same setbacks 

apply, regardless of the size of the property, and his thoughts 

are if people have 20-25-30 acres there should be some different 

requirements that they could not come up to within 15-20 feet of 

the property line.  He said possibly using a sliding scale to 

require a larger buffer zone, or something when it is a larger 

piece of land. 

 

Mr. Brinson said some communities do that, but a sliding scale 

becomes somewhat tricky.  He said some of the communities 

require a 20-25 foot (or even larger) setback on parcels of 5-10 

acres. He said normally when it goes beyond probably 10-20 

acres, the one big setback is usually adequate, whether it is 20 

acres or 100 acres. In response to Commissioner Ganus saying he 

would like to see something larger than the County now has on 

large pieces of property, Mr. Brinson said he would certainly 

look into that ï it is on his list. 

 

Mr. McCord said one concern of the County in doing that is if, 

say it was increased from 10/15(whichever side being measured 

from) say up to 40 feet, there is a possibility a lot of non-

conformities would be created.  He said that may be the case in 

a lot of the changes they make in the Land Development Code.  He 

said they do not want to do something that will create a lot of 

non-conformities unless it is taking care of an issue of 

environmental concern ï something of that sort. 

 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 5 of 18 
 

Mr. Brinson explained one of the things that must be considered 

at any time you are re-doing the Development Code is to what 

degree non-conformities are being created. He said some of them 

(regardless of the number) are well worth it, but some they 

would look at and say ñis this really essential to us, are we 

gaining much or are we creating another problem?ò He said that 

is something they always take into consideration and will let 

the Commission know if they propose something and if they find 

out it is particularly troublesome to non-conformities. 

 

In response to Chair Yerkes question as to when Mr. Brinson 

planned to get back with the P & Z Commission, Mr. Brinson said 

what he would like to do is for the Commission to jot down their 

thoughts during the next short period of time as to what they 

think are problems because part of the problem is how much 

detail he will go into and it depends on what the Commission is 

interested in.  He said they will go into virtually any detail 

requested, unless after getting into it with the Commission, he 

finds out it is not within the scope, and most of the time it is 

not. He said staff has already jotted down their thoughts and he 

has discussed them with staff and they will go through the Code 

and identify his own immediate concerns and he will then get 

back with the Commission and they could have a meeting and he 

can send the Commission information ahead of time. He said he 

was not sure when the next meeting would be, but as soon as they 

get their information and figure out that they have adequate 

information to pass on to the Commission he will then arrange a 

meeting.  He said they could establish a workshop where that is 

the only topic on the agenda, but that would be entirely up to 

the Commission. 

 

Chair Yerkes said he was sure Mr. Brinson had occasions with 

other communities to see that they operate just as this 

Commission does ï listens to the case, makes recommendations to 

the Board of County Commissioners.  He said many times the P & Z 

Commissionôs vote is unanimous based on what the Comprehensive 

Code is, sometimes they are not in agreement with what Mr. 

McCord recommends, and then the Board of County Commissioners 

will take a whole different direction ï not following the Code 

or the Comp Plan. He asked Mr. Brinson if he saw this happening 

in a lot of other counties and how other counties/municipalities 

deal with the communication between the P & Z Commission and the 

Board of County Commissioners when the BOCC is dealing with it 

from a political standpoint and the P & Z Commission is trying 

to deal with it from the Code and the best interest of the 

citizens of the County. 

 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 6 of 18 
 

Mr. Brinson said that has happened in every county he has ever 

worked in ï some more so than others. He said what he has to 

realize even as a consultant is frequently they will give a 

recommendation just as Mr. McCord will to the P & Z Commission, 

and even though they feel it is the best recommendation, yet 

viewing it from a different perspective as an appointed Planning 

Commissioner who tends to have more flexibility in the way they 

look at it from the entire Code and the way it is implemented, 

that they canôt help but do that ï it is their nature.  He said 

he is a strict constructionist, so to speak, tells exactly what 

he believes the Code says, but as a Planning Board they 

automatically take things on with a little more flexibility on 

how it affects the citizens ï making the best decision they can 

while staying within the Code and having a little ñwiggleò room. 

He said that is what they have to do; otherwise they would have 

to agree with their consultant or directors.  He said the same 

thing can be said about the City or County Commissions.  They 

look at the Code and the construction of it just the same as the 

P & Z Commissioners, but they are also looking at it with a 

slightly broader envelope or umbrella, and that is the reason 

they will sometimes be entirely different from the P & Z 

Commission. He said there is nothing that can be done about it ï 

all the P & Z Commission, the consultant or any other Board can 

do is give their best guidance and assistance. He said most of 

the time, he does not find the City or County Commissions 

overwhelmingly disagreeing with their P & Z Commissions because 

ultimately what happens is a disconnect and the Planning 

Commission gets changed. He said the County Commission could get 

changed by way of an election, depending on how the citizenry 

feels. 

 

Chair Yerkes suggested if Mr. McCord would explain to Mr. 

Brinson how the process works in this Commission and how it gets 

transferred in to the BOCC, that Mr. Brinson may look at that 

process and say, ñhey you have a process problem, an explanation 

problem, a problem getting forward to the County Commissioners 

what comes out of the P & Z meetings.ò He said maybe Mr. Brinson 

has seen other counties with a little more professional way, 

possibly somehow, of getting better communication between the 

two bodies. He said if he gets a phone call from one of them, he 

will talk with them and then may find out that what the P & Z 

Commission had in their minds did not get to them somehow. He 

asked Mr. Brinson if there was anything he could point out that 

would be helpful. 

 

Mr. Brinson said one way to do it is when the P & Z Commission 

makes a decision typically there are eight or nine points in 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 7 of 18 
 

their Code that they are to make findings on and the easiest way 

to make their decision known as to ówhyô is that on each 

individual point they give a reason why it does or does not meet 

it, instead of a broad motion ï ñwe approve it, it is consistent 

with the findings necessary for re-zoning, for a variance or a 

special exceptionò. He said he would certainly look at this and 

would have to consult with others in the community to make 

certain whether or not they are in the scope of their actual 

contract. Mr. Brinson said this is certainly a legitimate 

question and frequently a legitimate concern of the P & Z 

Commissions in recommending or even approving.   

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

 

(6)  VARIANCE-Isaac Immediate Family Exception ïV-2008-01. 

 

This item was deleted from the Agenda as shown in the above 

motion. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

(7) Public Hearing ï Conceptual Plat Review ï Paradise Gardens 

Subdivision SD-2008-01 

 

Location of property: Located approximately 1,000+ feet east of 

the southeastern corner of the intersection of Blue Star Highway 

(SR 90) and Atwater Road, Township 3 North, range 5 West, 

Section 19.  

 

Tax ID #: 2-03-3N-5W-0000-00231-0000 

 

Type of Hearing: Quasi-Judicial 

 

Mr. McCord was sworn for this and all other matters to come 

before the Commission tonight by Deputy Clerk Jean Chesser. 

 

Mr. McCord explained the application as shown in the attached 

agenda packet as being a conceptual plat for twelve one-half 

acre clustered lots on an 18.39 acre parcel in the RR future 

land use category and to be known as the paradise Gardens 

Subdivision. The lots will be of a clustered design, with some 

lots being as small as ½ acre in size.   He said the proposed 

subdivision is compatible with adjacent uses and access to the 

site would be via a proposed local roadway (Mary Lane which will 

be dedicated to the County) onto CR 90 -Blue Star Highway. He 

said staff has also requested a future interconnection to the 

west, at the end of the proposed cul-de-sac on Mary Lane. Storm 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 8 of 18 
 

water to be handled through curb and gutter roadways with 

easements conveying storm water to a 0.564 acre storm water 

facility that will be on the south side of Mary Lane. Common 

areas and open space will be owned and maintained by the 

Homeownerôs Association and the easements will be dedicated to 

the County at final plat. Mr. McCord said sidewalks will be 

required on all roadways, and additional right-of-way for US 90 

will also accommodate a sidewalk. The applicant must demonstrate 

compliance with Objective 2.4 and 2.4.2 as shown in the attached 

agenda packet at the time of preliminary plat which requires a 

minimum of 100ô of right-of-way for an arterial roadway.  He 

said US 90 is only 66ô wide at this particular location and an 

additional 17.5ô will be dedicated as a tract for conveying to 

the County in order to comply with this policy. There is also a 

25ô corridor road setback required along U.S. 90 and shall be 

subject to a conservation easement or restrictions.  The buffer 

will not include the 17.5 portion of property provided as 

additional right-of-way on U.S. 90.  Potable water services are 

available to the property in this area by Talquin Electric and 

Talquin underground utilities are recommended.  Septic systems 

will serve these lots and if mounded systems are required the 

proposed lots will be required for reconfiguration to comply 

with the Comp Plan Objective 4.5 & Policies 4.5.1 and 4.5.6 & 

Subsections 6100A.lld and 6103A.2 & 3 to meet a minimum of 3.0+ 

acres in size. He said the applicant has a clearance letter from 

the Department of State, Div of Historical Resources confirming 

no significant archeological or historic resources are known to 

exist in the project area.  After further explanation it was the 

recommendation of Growth Management for Option # 1 with the 

conditions A-J as shown in the staff report for approval of the 

applicantôs request for a conceptual plat review.  

 

Commissioner Arnold raised questions on the storm water 

treatment with the subsequent run off going into the nearby 

wetlands and whether the treatment would be percolation through 

a sub-soil pond -- sand filters; and Mr. McCord responded that 

was correct, and it must be approved by the Water Management 

District. 

 

Commissioner Ganus raised questions on the additional right-of-

way for HWY 90 and asked if the 17.5ô stated as being needed to 

make the required 100ô should be actually 17ô as it is currently 

66ô and an additional 34ô would make 100ô. He also pointed out 

on page 8 the wording US 89 should be corrected to reflect HWY 

90. He also asked about the entrance into the subdivision from 

HWY 90 and whether there would be a deceleration lane required 

with a modification to HWY 90 for a left hand turn lane. 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 9 of 18 
 

 

Mr. McCord said the deceleration lane may happen, but it would 

depend on what DOT says.  He said his guess is it most likely 

will not be a requirement since this subdivision has only 12 

lots. 

 

There being no further questions from the Commission, Chair 

Yerkes asked that the applicant come forward. 

 

Ms. Latasha Murray, Applicant was sworn by Deputy Clerk Jean 

Chesser. 

 

Chair Yerkes asked if, even though this was a conceptual review, 

when they put in the septic systems/drainage fields on these 

small lots and when those drain fields fail at a later date 

(could not be dug up and replaced ï must be another one put in) 

if there will be adequate space on the lots to put in an 

alternate drain field that will follow setbacks, etc.  

 

Ms. Murray responded the site will have to be tested to make 

sure everything meets the table and she said they will know when 

they go through the environmental tests if they meet the 

requirements just like everyone for a septic system. She said 

she has done three developments and has never run into this 

problem. 

 

Chair Yerkes asked Ms. Murray if there was always ample space 

for another system, maybe ten years down the road and Ms. Murray 

responded óWe have never had a problemò.  

 

Chair Yerkes said he would like to see in the Code that when a 

homeowner buys property like this that they are assured in the 

future if they have to put in another drainage field, that there 

is ample space for it or they are caught in a real trap. 

 

There being no further questions from the Commission, Chair 

Yerkes called anyone wishing to speak for or against the 

request. 

 

PERSONS SPEAKING IN FAVOR OF THE REQUEST: 

 

None 

 

PERSONS SPEAKING IN OPPOSITION TO THE REQUEST: 

 

Mr. David Avant, III was sworn by Deputy Clerk Jean Chesser. He 

explained his reasons for opposing the request (archeological 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 10 of 18 
 

site, drainage problems, septic systems, density, environmental, 

hunting on two adjacent sides of this parcel, historical site, 

high slope of the property, urban sprawl) and presented a 

petition from some of the neighbors opposing the request.  He 

strongly urged the Commission to deny this request. He said he 

was not opposed to 3-4-5 nice homes towards the front of the 

property, and hoped the applicant would come back with a much 

better plan for the neighborhood, the environment and the area 

for people living around the site and for the tax base for 

Gadsden County. 

 

Ms. Amanda Hines was sworn and also spoke in opposition to the 

request. 

 

Ms. Murray said no one has called her to complain ï she has 

signs up in the area, has placed ads in the local papers and has 

had no contact from any of the surrounding property owners. 

 

Chair Yerkes asked both Ms. Hines and Mr. Avant if they and 

other surrounding property owners would be willing to meet with 

the developer and they both stated they would be glad to meet 

with Ms. Murray on their concerns.  

 

Mr. Yerkes inquired as to the number of surrounding neighbors 

that were sent notices on this hearing and Mr. McCord said 

letters were sent out to 33 people of surrounding properties. 

He said he was not aware of any historical sites on this parcel, 

but stated there was a historical house with historical land use 

to the east on Hwy 90. He said they have not received the 

environmental study but had received a letter from the State 

that they have nothing in their records on a historical site on 

the property, but an additional detailed review will be required 

at the preliminary plat stage. 

 

Commissioner Sheffield expressed concern about the ½ acre lots 

in that area and the issues regarding septic tanks and drain 

fields and having to replace the drain fields when they fail. 

She asked if it was the same process putting another new one in 

the same spot, enough room, on the ½ acre if the mounded septic 

system fails. 

 

Mr. Ball said it is the same process and whether there would be 

enough room on a half-acre would depend on the square footage of 

the home. He said there is a required 5ô minimum setback from 

the property line and a 5ô minimum setback from a building 

foundation; there is a timeline and the minimum setbacks must be 

met. He said it would be possible, but to have one approved 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 11 of 18 
 

would mean nothing could be built over them ï driveways, decks, 

etc.  He said it would be tight. 

 

Commissioner Ganus asked wasnôt it true that a mounded system 

requires a three acre lot and Mr. Ball responded affirmatively. 

 

Commissioner Sheffield asked if what she heard Ms. Murray say 

was that she had a preliminary soil test done and regular drain 

fields could go in that area. 

 

Mr. McCord said they did not require soil test/borings at this 

stage of the review.  He said this is only the conceptual review 

and one of the reasons he wants to do away with the conceptual 

review process.  He said he has informed the consultants of this 

as this process confuses the public and he thought it also 

confuses the Board and everyone involved as they want to see 

more data at this level of review and they are wasting time 

because the information is not required at this level of review. 

He also said based on things being said tonight about this 

request, it may have to be dramatically redesigned from what it 

is now and they may not get the lot yield as shown tonight. He 

said this is a maximum yield simply by the land use, and there 

are underlying issues that staff will be looking into between 

now and the BOCC meeting, and staff may have a different opinion 

by then.  He said certainly at the preliminary plat stage more 

findings will come out that may dramatically change staffôs 

recommendation. 

 

Commissioner Sheffield said the conceptual review is one of 

those questions of ñhow did it happenò. She asked how this 

became Rural Residential anyway and Mr. McCord there are other 

areas similar to this and eventually they are going to cause 

problems. 

 

Chair Yerkes said he would like to see in the future, possibly 

as part of the Comp Plan or the County Code, that when a 

developer comes in to Planning & Zoning the first time, that 

staff recommends to that individual that they need to get with 

their neighbors and have a meeting/presentation as he has seen 

many, many things similar to this that could have been resolved 

between the developer and the property owners prior to coming 

for a review.  

 

Mr. McCord said staff is working on it and moving in that 

direction. He said even at the State level they are moving in 

that direction on certain types of things. He pointed out to the 

Commission another standard that would have to be met, and that 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 12 of 18 
 

is on compatibility ï for instance the hunting preserve on Mr. 

Avantôs property. 

 

Chair Yerkes said at this time nothing has been presented to 

show that there is, in fact, a hunting preserve. 

 

Mr. Avant addressed the Chair and stated that he does have a 

hunting preserve license (has had it since 1981) and would be 

glad to bring the license in.  Chair Yerkes asked that Mr. Avant 

bring his license to Mr. McCord. 

 

Commissioner Sheffield said it is her opinion based on 

compatibility that this request of 12 lots at ½ acre each is not 

compatible with the rest of the area. 

 

Commissioner Arnold raised questions on the archeological issues 

and Mr. McCord said no survey has been done at this time, but 

the State has specifically stated via letter that it is the 

Stateôs recommendation that a cultural resource survey be done 

of the property.  Mr. McCord said this is also something that 

would be done at the preliminary plat stage. 

 

There being no further questions/discussion from the Commission, 

the following action was taken: 

 

UPON A MOTION BY COMMISSIONER SHEFFIELD TO DENY THE REQUEST 

BASED ON COMPATIBILITY, AND UPON A SECOND BY COMMISSIONER ROWAN, 

THE BOARD VOTED 7-0, BY VOICE VOTE, IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION TO 

DENY. 

 

Chair Yerkes stated for the record that this is a case where the 

motion was based on compatibility and everyone understood that, 

but his interpretation of compatibility is in a broader sense 

than just being that it is next to a hunting preserve and 

someone else may interpret the compatibility problem as being 

the historical sites or the fact that these properties are too 

close to wetlands, etc. He said the Commission has not been too 

definitive on this and it is something that really bothers him. 

He said he understood they are doing just exactly what they have 

always done ï deny based on compatibility. 

 

Mr. McCord said if the C                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

ommission wanted to re-open the motion to define those findings 

it would be appropriate, and Chair Yerkes said he would like to 

do that because Ms. Murray has put a lot of effort into this 

request and if he was Ms. Murray, he would be really concerned 

that it was not more definitive than just compatibility. He said 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 13 of 18 
 

it may also be confusing to the Board of County Commissioners. 

Chair Yerkes then re-opened the motion for more definitive 

reasons. 

 

Commissioner Rowan said the motion had been made and voted on 

and they should move on to something else. 

 

Commissioner Sheffield said if they wanted her to add to her 

motion that she would do that. She said her compatibility issue 

is primarily the density, it would be a problem down the road 

with the hunting preserve; the use of the surrounding land and 

the environmental issues.  Her motion was amended to include: 

        AMENDED MOTION 

 

UPON A MOTION BY COMMISSIONER SHEFFIELD TO DENY THE REQUEST 

BASED ON COMPATIBILITY ï PRIMARILY THE DENSITY, IT WOULD BE A 

PROBLEM DOWN THE ROAD WITH THE HUNTING PRESERVE (USE OF THE 

SURROUNDING LAND) AND THE ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES, AND UPON A 

SECOND BY COMMISSIONER ROWAN, THE COMMISSION VOTED 7-0, BY VOICE 

VOTE, IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION TO DENY. 

 

Commissioner Rudd said this would give the applicant time to 

review, get with the neighbors ï give them time to settle a lot 

of the issues that the Commission doesnôt even need to be 

hearing ï get it all worked out and then they can come back 

before the Commission again. 

 

Chair Yerkes advised Ms. Murray that she would still go before 

the Board of County Commissioners and she had the option of 

meeting with the property owners and then presenting her replies 

to all of the things the P & Z Commission has concerns with 

tonight. 

 

Mr. McCord said the applicant could also request the Board delay 

action on this item until the additional questions are answered. 

 

7-A.  Public Hearing ï Special Exception Use ï Special Breed of 

Animal as a Pet ï SE-2008-01 

 

Location of Property: Located at 19 Sugarmill Way, Lot 1, Block 

A of the Sugarmill Woods 2 Subdivision, RR land use north of 

Havana Highway (SR12) and west of Sugarmill Way. 

 

Tax ID #: 2-33-3N-2W-0259-0000A-0010 

 

Type of Hearing:  Quasi-Judicial 

 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 14 of 18 
 

Mr. McCord was previously sworn and presented the item as a 

request of Ms. Bonnie Foshee to allow a special exception use 

for allowing her to keep a Vietnamese pot-bellied pig as a pet. 

He said Ms. Foshee had been issued a ñWarning Notice to Correct 

Violationò in January of 2008 ñillegal livestock in a 

residential area not zoned for livestockò. Ms. Foshee filed for 

the special exception use so that her ñPet Vietnamese Pig Fredò 

could remain to live out the rest of his life on her property. 

Mr. McCord said there have been no complaints on ñFredò being a 

nuisance and no complaints on smell, etc.  

 

Chair Yerkes asked the applicant to come forward. 

 

Ms. Bonnie Foshee was sworn by Deputy Clerk Jean Chesser.  Ms. 

Foshee presented a letter addressed to the Gadsden County 

Commissioners, dated March 3, 2008, explaining the entire ñFredò 

situation, photos of Fred, and a petition to keep ñFredò signed 

by some of the adjacent homeowners as shown in the attached 

agenda packet.  She explained these pigs live an average of 12-

15 years and ñFredò is now 10 years old.  She asked that the 

Commission allow ñFredò to live out his remaining time with her 

as she would be unable to find him a home and could not stand to 

see him killed.  Ms. Foshee stated her neighbors think ñFredò is 

interesting; they love him and have no problems with ñFredò 

being there. She said ñFredò does not bark; bothers no one, she 

keeps the yard clean and there is no odor from ñFredò. She said 

the average pot-bellied pigs usually average between 150-250 

pounds and she estimates ñFredôsò weight at approx 280 pounds. 

 

Commissioner Sheffield asked if there were any neighborhood deed 

restrictions/covenants not allowing farm animals. 

 

The following spoke for the applicant and were sworn: 

 

Ms. Ashley McCall 

Ms. Sandi Schenker 

 

Chair Yerkes advised Ms. Foshee that even if the Commission 

votes tonight and with nothing be brought forward concerning the 

Homeownerôs Association Covenants, those covenants could easily 

trump any vote made by the Commission. 

 

Mr. Thurston Foshee was sworn and stated he purchased the 

property in 1994 and was given a copy of the covenants at that 

time but that he was not thinking of having a pig then.  He said 

he is not sure at this time what the covenants state, but there 

has never been a meeting, doesnôt even know if there is a 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 15 of 18 
 

president or who he would contact, doesnôt know the names of 

anyone who may be a member on the board, no dues -- nothing 

since 1994. 

 

Commissioner Arnold stated the Commission should be aware that 

granting a special exception does not set a precedent on these 

types of issues. 

 

Ms. Betty Thomas asked to speak and was then sworn by Deputy 

Clerk Jean Chesser. 

 

Ms. Thomas stated she did not wish to speak on the issue; she 

just wanted to know what a Vietnamese pot-bellied pig was and 

what was going on as she owns Lot 41 which is undeveloped at 

this time.  She stated she has no objections. 

 

UPON A MOTION BY COMMISSIONER RUDD TO APPROVE THE APPLICANTôS 

REQUEST TO KEEP THE VIETNAMESE POT-BELLIED PIG AS A PET, AND 

UPON A SECOND BY COMMISSIONER ARNOLD, THE COMMISSION VOTED 7-0, 

BY VOICE VOTE, IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION. 

 

Commissioner Ganus asked if a condition should be added that it 

does not conflict with any covenant restrictions on the 

property, and Chair Yerkes said he did not think it was 

necessary because anything the Commission or the County does 

will not trump the Homeownerôs Association as the Association 

has the final say on that. 

 

8.  Public Hearing Conceptual/Preliminary Site Plan ï MST 

Construction ï SP 2008-01 

 

Location of Property: Located approximately ¼ mile southwest of 

the intersection of US 27 and Scotland Road (CR 159) in Township 

2 North, Range 2 West, Section 03 

 

Tax ID #: 3-03-2N-2W-1524-00000-0020 

 

Type of Hearing: Quasi-Judicial 

 

Mr. McCord was previously sworn and explained the applicantôs 

request for a 4,000 sq. ft. structure to be used as 1,000 sq. 

ft. of office space, 1,400 sq. ft. for maintenance area and 

1,600 sq. ft. of covered storage on 3.54 acres as a construction 

company and as shown in the attached agenda packet.  He said the 

proposed site will be used for the repair/maintenance of fuel 

delivery systems.  He said no 18 wheel vehicles will be parked 

over-night and the applicant has to further clarify that there 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 16 of 18 
 

will be no outside storage of material. Mr. McCord said a 75ô 

buffer is required and has been provided between the proposed 

development and the AG-2 land use to the north and the site plan 

indicates a driveway that loops around the site which utilizes a 

shared access easement on the east side of the site. He said the 

ingress/egress to the site is permitted only from Garrett Drive; 

there are no protected trees located on the site as shown in the 

attached survey and the parking study indicates most of the 

vehicles are driven directly from home to the actual job sites 

and this allows for 8 paved standard parking spaces for employee 

vehicles, four for visitors, one handicapped space and two 

loading spaces.  Utilities will be provided by an existing 6ò 

water line; the applicant proposes to provide a septic system 

for sewage treatment and Talquin will provide electrical service 

to the site.  After further explanation, Mr. McCord said staff 

is recommending Option # 1 with conditions A ï H for approval of 

the applicantôs request. 

 

Commissioner Ganus raised questions on the required parking 

spaces and what would happen if all of the vehicles were there 

at one time (maybe for a general meeting of the employees) 

because they would have more vehicles than they have parking 

spaces. 

 

Mr. McCord said the minimum Code required parking is 12 parking 

spaces and that is what they propose. He said the Commission has 

the ability to either waive that requirement or to accept the 

applicantôs parking study and allow them to provide the number 

of parking spaces proposed in their study. 

 

Chair Yerkes asked that the maps being provided in the agenda 

packets be enlarged and it was agreed the size of 11x17 would be 

very appropriate. 

 

There being no further questions from the Commission, Chair 

Yerkes asked the applicant to come forward. 

 

Ms. Kathleen Shirah, President of Shirah Design & Construction 

was sworn and spoke as representative of the applicant. She 

explained that she and the applicant met with the Planning staff 

and feel that the conditions recommended are very appropriate.  

She explained the nature of the fuel delivery system basically 

being that this company installs and repairs the equipment 

associated with convenience stores selling fuel ï the pumps, the 

tanks, the meters, etc. She explained most of the construction 

and maintenance is done at the store locations and there is no 

construction or maintenance provided at the proposed facility, 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 17 of 18 
 

unless it was an occasional small piece of equipment that could 

be repaired or refurbished inside the shop (some small 

components ï electronic part).  She said there will be no on-

site manufacturing, storage of materials or emissions of any 

type, no petroleum storage or anything that could constitute an 

objectionable activity. She said it meets the light industrial 

criteria for warehousing, operation center and parking of fleet 

vehicles which requires 10 wheels or less. She said there are 

rarely any employee and/or company vehicles parked at the site, 

but on the rare occasion when there possibly could be, there is 

a large vehicle use area by the loading zone where temporary 

parking could be accommodated without going outside the limits 

of clearing. She said on a normal day-to-day operation there 

would be no more than 2 ï 4 vehicles on the site. 

 

In response to questions from Mr. Ganus as to whether this would 

primarily be for new system installations and what items would 

be stored inside the warehouse/storage area, Ms. Shirah said not 

necessarily new system installations as they do some maintenance 

and repair work and the majority of it is at the job sites. She 

said only small components, electronic components, replacement 

parts, etc. would be stored on site. 

 

Commissioner Ganus asked if any pump equipment testing would be 

done at the proposed site and Ms. Shirah stated there would not. 

She also said there would be no toxics, cleaning chemicals, etc. 

that would get into the soil. 

 

Commissioner Ganus inquired as to what would happen to used 

parts being taken out of the machines ï how those items would be 

disposed of and Ms. Shirah responded that she did not know. She 

said there is ample space for placement of a dumpster, 

additional parking spaces, etc. that may be required on the site 

for future use should the operation expand or be sold to another 

type of business -- only approximately 25% of the entire area 

has been cleared. 

 

There being no further questions from the Commission, Chair 

Yerkes called for a motion. 

 

UPON A MOTION BY COMMISSIONER ROWAN TO APPROVE OPTION # 1 WITH 

CONDITIONS A-H AS SHOWN IN THE ATTACHED AGENDA PACKET, AND UPON 

A SECOND BY COMMISSIONER SHEFFIELD, THE BOARD VOTED 7-0, BY 

VOICE VOTE, IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION. 

 

 

 



P&Z Regular Meeting – March 13, 2008 

Page 18 of 18 
 

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO COME BEFORE THE COMMISSION AT 

THIS TIME, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      _______________________________ 

                              John Yerkes, Chairman 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________ 

Jean Chesser, Deputy Clerk 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


